2003

Holly Wayment, Plaintiff and Appellant, vs. Clear Channel Broadcasting, Inc., A Texas Corporation, KTVX Channel 4, and Jon Fischer, and Patrick Benedict, Individuals, Defendants and Appellees :  
Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

## **JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT**

The Supreme Court of Utah has jurisdiction in the matter pursuant to Section 78-2-2(j) (2001).

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES & STANDARD OF REVIEW**

### **ISSUE NO. 1**

**The trial court erred in granting defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment on the grounds that Ms. Wayment was a public figure and must prove that defendants acted "with malice".**

### **ISSUE NO. 2**

**The trial court erred in granting defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment on the grounds that the defamatory statements were hearsay and inadmissible.**

### **ISSUE NO. 3**

**The trial court erred in granting defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment on the grounds that Benedicts' statements were not recited in the complaint and are not actionable.**

## **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

Summary judgment is appropriate only when no genuine issues of material fact exist and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Utah R. Civ. P.56, et seq. *Higgins v. Salt Lake County*, 855 P.2d 231 (Utah 1993). The trial court's resolution of the legal issues in its "Memorandum Decision" is accorded no deference since entitlement to summary judgment is a question of law. This Court determines only whether the trial court erred in applying the governing law and whether the trial court correctly held that there was no disputed issues of material fact. In addition, in reviewing the trial court's action in granting defendant/appellees motion for summary judgment, this Court views the facts and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, plaintiff/appellant in this case. *Berenda v. Langford*, 914 P.2d 45 (Utah 1996).

DON L. DAVIS (Texas Bar No. 0548000)  
ROBERT C. ALDEN (Texas Bar No. 0097680)  
DEREK L. DAVIS (Texas Bar No. 00793590)  
BYRD, DAVIS, EISENBERG, WALTER & FURMAN, L.L.P.  
707 West 34<sup>th</sup> Street  
Austin, Texas 78705  
Telephone: 512-454-3751  
Facsimile: 512-451-5857

LIZ KING BURGESS (4863)  
CLAWSON BURGESS, LLC  
350 South 400 East, Suite 200  
Salt Lake City, UT 84111  
Telephone: 801-322-5000  
Facsimile: 801-322-1471

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT

---

**IN THE UTAH SUPREME COURT  
SALT LAKE COUNTY, STATE OF UTAH**

---

---

**HOLLY WAYMENT**  
**Plaintiff and Appellant**

**vs.**  
**CLEAR CHANNEL BROADCASTING,**  
**INC., A Texas Corporation dba KTVX**  
**Channel 4, and JON FISCHER, and**  
**PATRICK BENEDICT, Individuals,**  
**Defendants and Appellees.**

**BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

**CASE No. 20030854-SC**

**ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED**

---

TO THE HONORABLE UTAH SUPREME COURT:

COMES NOW, HOLLY WAYMENT, appellant herein, and presents this brief  
and would respectfully show unto the court as follows:

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Plaintiff, Holly Wayment, appeals the trial court's order granting summary judgment for defendant, Clear Channel Broadcasting, Inc., a Texas Corporation dba KTVX Channel 4, and Jon Fischer and Patrick Benedict, Individuals. Holly Wayment brought a private defamation action against television Channel 4's News Director, Jon Fischer, Assistant News Director, Patrick Benedict, and its owner, Clear Channel Broadcasting, Inc. Ms. Wayment alleges that Channel 4's management falsely accused her of using her reporting contacts to try to create a foundation for her benefit, taking money from the Huntsman Cancer Institute, and that she "was in bed" with the institute. These defamatory statements were made at a time when the management team knew these statements were false and, when asked to clarify the rumors by numerous station employees, management refused to do so.

Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment was based primarily on Jon Fischer's version of what transpired during a meeting that he had with Ms. Wayment on Wednesday, May 1, 2002. Fischer's description of this meeting is hotly contested and was an inappropriate basis for granting summary judgment. Concerning Fischer's "version of what happened in this termination meeting", Ms. Wayment described his testimony as follows: "He is lying." (Wayment, p. 313, l. 11-16).

## **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

Holly Wayment worked as the health reporter for KTVX, Channel 4, in Salt Lake City, Utah from April 1999 until May 14, 2002. She was hired on April 12,

1999 and signed a two-year contract with various provisions and extensions. Her contract was extended by agreement until January 1, 2002. (Wayment, Ex. 9, p. 33, l. 24; p. 65, l. 5).

In October 2001, Channel 4 was acquired by Defendant, Clear Channel Broadcasting, Inc. Jon Fischer was hired as the Director of Local Program Development and was in charge of the news department. (*Id.* p. 34, l. 16 – 24). Patrick Benedict was hired on May 1, 2002 by Mr. Fischer as the Assistant News Director at Channel 4. (Benedict, p.4, l. 22).

As the News Director, one of the principal tasks of Mr. Fischer's job was to increase Channel 4's market share. (Fischer, p. 32, l. 10). At that time, a competitor, Channel 5, was the market leader in Salt Lake City and Fischer let it be known that anyone from Channel 5 "is welcome" at Channel 4. (Rodriguez, p. 19, l. 2). Lisa Connelly was a reporter and weekend anchor at Channel 5. In December 2001, Jon Fischer contacted Ms. Connelly about the possibility of working at Channel 4. (Fischer, p. 106, l. 16). Unknown to Ms. Wayment, in February/March Ms. Connelly agreed to a contract with Channel 4 receiving a signing bonus of \$5,000.00, an annual salary of \$100,000.00, and a clothing/makeup allowance of \$7,000.00. Connelly's contract with Channel 4 was dated June 1, 2002<sup>1</sup>. (Connelly Exhibit 14, p. 129-137).

---

<sup>1</sup> A dispute arose between Connelly and another T.V. station concerning an outstanding job offer. To resolve the dispute, Connelly agreed to stay off the air with Channel 4 until June 1, 2002.

After Clear Channel Broadcasting purchased Channel 4 in the fall of 2001, employees were told that to improve Channel 4 market share, they needed to get involved with the community and become Salt Lake City's community-oriented station. Employees were encouraged to get involved with charitable organizations. An outside consultant, The Broadcast Image Group, conducted seminars at Channel 4 on how employees could get involved and improve the station's market-share. (Wayment, p. 78, l. 24; p. 80, l. 6). Many Channel 4 employees were already involved in community affairs. Ms. Wayment, for example, had served on the board of Candelighters for Childhood Cancer, (Wayment p. 94, l. 9) participated in Race for the Cure (*Id.* p. 111, l. 9) and, with another Channel 4 reporter, Amy Troy, was the Master of Ceremonies for Race for the Cure. (*Id.* p. 111, l. 24). Wayment was also a speaker at a Walk America fundraiser for the March of Dimes (*Id.* p. 110, l. 6) and had been Master of Ceremonies for the Utah Diabetes Center Gala. (*Id.* at p. 113, l. 3).

In response to this emphasis on community involvement, on May 1, 2002, Ms. Wayment went to Fischer's office to describe an idea she had concerning community involvement. As the health reporter, she had extensive contacts in the Salt Lake City medical community. She explained to Fischer that she had become interested in the children at Huntsman's Cancer Institute and wanted to start a buddy program "to help kids with cancer and their families get their mind off the disease." (*Id.* p. 116, l. 14). What Ms. Wayment did not know when she presented her idea to Fischer was that

Fischer had not only hired Lisa Connelly as the weekend anchor, they had also discussed her taking over Ms. Wayment's health reporting duties at Channel 4.<sup>2</sup> When Fischer's secretary, Ms. Holt was asked, "When were you first aware that Lisa would be the health reporter?" She answered, "When she started." (Holt, p. 36, l. 21).

Ms. Wayment described to Fischer how she had done a story on a young girl, Tarrin, a four year-old child with ovarian cancer and that after getting to know Tarrin's family she realized the difficulty families had when their children were in Salt Lake City for chemotherapy treatment. Ms. Wayment developed a relationship with Tarrin's family and took Tarrin and her family out of the hospital to enjoy outside activities. She took Tarrin to the ballet, the Sundance Institute, dinners and movies – anything to keep the little girl's mind off her cancer. As a result of that experience Ms. Wayment saw a real need at Huntsman Cancer Institute to develop a "buddy system" whereby members of the Salt Lake City community could be paired with children in the Institute to assist their family as she had Tarrin's family. She had discussed this with the Director of the Center for Children at Huntsman's Cancer Institute and he thought it was a wonderful idea that should be pursued. Ms.

---

<sup>2</sup> Nicea Degering, another Channel 4 weekend anchor, testified, "When you're the weekend anchor you also report three days during the week," and she learned "a couple of days before she got there" or maybe even the week she got there "that being the health reporter had been discussed" with Lisa Connelly. (Degering, p. 36, l. 2-9). Pat Benedict acknowledged that Ms. Wayments "duties were assigned to Lisa Connelly." (Benedict, p. 40, l. 16). This was confirmed by other employees. (Christina Flores – McKane, p. 57, l. 16; Kim Miller, p. 6, l. 5; Adam Rodriguez, p. 20, l. 11).

Wayment's concept and additional background information can be found in Exhibit 1 to Plaintiff's Second Amended Complaint.

After listening to Ms. Wayment's concept, Fischer jolted Ms. Wayment by saying she had created a conflict of interest and a perception of bias by discussing the "buddy system" with Huntsman Cancer Institute!! (Wayment, p. 189, L. 16). To her astonishment, he called in his Assistant Director, Patrick Benedict, and asked Holly to repeat what she had told him. As she repeated her story to Benedict, "he seemed very pleased" and was nodding his head "and smiling," (Wayment, p. 257, l. 20) and then Jon Fischer cut him off and said, "Well wait a second, Pat. Don't you think there could be a perception for bias here?" Benedict then said, "Perhaps, there could be a perception for bias, but I know Holly and she wouldn't try to profit off of kids with cancer." Ms. Wayment "was flabbergasted" and said, "profit off of kids with cancer? Why would you even say that? Of course that is not even what this is about at all." (Wayment p. 258, l. 4 – 15). The conversation ended and Fischer thanked Ms. Wayment for her ideas and said he was going to run this past "corporate" to see if he could get it approved. He "gave me the impression he was going to bat for me with corporate." (*Id.* p. 268, l. 7). Ms. Wayment explained to both Fischer and Benedict that if anyone thought she shouldn't pursue the idea, she would not do so because she wanted to keep her job. (*Id.* p. 301, l. 1).

Several days later, on May 3<sup>rd</sup>, Fischer came up to Ms. Wayment "smiling on Friday afternoon and he said, "Great news, Holly. I've talked to corporate and I think



we're going to be able to work it out." "I just need an e-mail from you explaining the group." He said, "I need you to write the e-mail, and be sure to explain how you came up with the idea, . . . how you used your reporting contacts to start this foundation." At this point Ms. Wayment stopped him and said, "It's not a foundation. It's just an idea." He then said, "Be sure to include in there any money that's exchanged hands." Ms. Wayment, "looked at him perplexed and I said, "Jon, no money has exchanged hands," and he said, "Oh, okay, but include that part about the buses." (Wayment, p. 226, l. 6-22). Ms. Wayment sent the memo to him at 6:58 p.m. by e-mail and left a copy under his door at the station. (Wayment, p. 276, l. 12).

On Monday, May 6<sup>th</sup>, Ms. Wayment checked her voicemail and had a message from Mr. Fischer. He stated, "Thanks Holly. I think I have everything I need." (Wayment, p. 295, l. 3).

Another week passed and on Tuesday, May 14<sup>th</sup>, Mr. Fischer called Ms. Wayment into his office. To her complete "shock," he stated, "Holly, I know you were trying to do something wonderful, but you're getting screwed." He then said, "Corporate wants me to walk you out the door right now in front of everyone for what you've done . . . I tried to go to bat for you . . . talking to corporate and its not my decision." (*Id.*, p. 298, l. 12, p. 299, l. 7). She explained to Fischer that there had to be a huge misunderstanding and she would like to talk to the people in corporate to "set the record straight" because she "had not done anything wrong." (*Id.* p. 300, l. 19). Fischer told her that there was no need to call corporate, "they won't answer

your calls.” (*Id.* p. 300, l. 2). Fischer then stated that if she would resign and go quietly, he would say nice things to the other stations when they call and could pay her for two weeks vacation. Otherwise, he threatened, he would fire her now and she would “be escorted out of the newsroom in front of everyone.” (*Id.* p. 307, l. 5). When Wayment asked if she could think about it over night he said, “No, I need your letter of resignation within the next hour.” (*Id.* p. 319, l. 19). Fischer then said, “I want you to know, Holly, that you’re one of the few people who has her priorities straight in the world and I admire you for that. You want to help people. And I’d like to shake your hand.” He then added, “It’s said you’re not a true reporter until you’ve been fired once, and now you’re a true reporter.” (*Id.* p. 301, l. 14). After she had typed the letter of resignation with his instructions, he signed the letter below Holly Wayment’s signature, made a copy, and put one on her desk.

Jeremy Castellano, a photographer at KTVX Channel 4, concluded that after Jon Fischer hired Lisa Connelly in March, he had to make a hole in his staff so that Lisa Connelly could do the medical reporting when she started to work June 1. In Castellano’s words, “They just found any excuse they can, unfounded, just to let Holly go.” (Castellano, p. 13, l. 8).

As an “at-will employee,” Ms. Wayment could be fired for good cause, bad cause, or no cause at all. As an at-will employee, she had no contractual rights under Utah law. However, instead of letting the matter rest, Defendants maliciously defamed Ms. Wayment by making false statements that impeached her honesty,

integrity, virtue, and reputation as a reporter and eliminated her as a competing reporter in the Salt Lake City television market.<sup>3</sup> Castellano testified, “They made up the story about how she was receiving money [from Huntsman] and how she was unethical when it wasn’t true.” (Castellano, p.13, l. 16). Castellano specifically went to Pat Benedict “because he’s the assistant news director and I figured he could give me some answers.” (Castellano, p. 30, l. 2). Benedict told him that Ms. Wayment was “unethical and she abused her contacts” because “you can’t do stories on a place you’re receiving money from,” “you can’t do unbiased stories from someone you’re receiving money from.” (*Id.* P. 36, L. 22 – 24). There is circumstantial evidence that Jon Fischer actually started these rumors through his secretary, Ms. Holt. “Everybody was talking about it.” (McKane, p. 19, l. 6). “If Jon Fischer, the news director’s secretary is going around telling people that Holly was receiving a salary, I think that’s pretty important for people to know. It’s not like, you know, someone from the studio crew is walking around with an unfounded opinion. I mean, she works for Jon Fischer. She, obviously, knows.” (Castellano, p. 67, l. 16). “A lot of management pushed the story that she was taking money from Huntsman.” (Castellano, p. 73, l. 19). “Management” was Fischer and Benedict. (Minium, p. 37, l. 22; p. 38, l. 3).

---

<sup>3</sup> Repeated applications for employment in the Salt Lake City market have been rejected. Before she was fired, she had been approached by another T.V. station. (Wayment, p. 334 – 341)

These defamatory statements devastated Ms. Wayment's career. This is described in the testimony of two of Ms. Wayment's coworkers. Brent Hunsaker, a weekend anchor at Channel 4, testified that if a reporter had a reputation of taking money from a source, such would be very harmful to the career of a reporter. "A reporter's stock in trade is their reputation. If you have no reputation, then you've lost your ability to do your job." (Hunsaker, p. 14, l. 5 - 14). He further stated that he was "shocked" because "taking money from a source would be dishonest." (Hunsaker, p. 13, l. 22 - 25). Jeremy Castellano testified that "it's devastating" when a reporter is charged with "unethical behavior." "I honestly don't think there is anything more important than being ethical". (Castellano, p. 19, l. 21, p. 20, l. 5).

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The trial court's legal analysis was flawed by concluding that Ms. Wayment was a public figure involved in a public controversy which invoked first amendment protections for the defendants. This case does not present "freedom of the press" issues protected by the first amendment. No media of any sort was involved in publishing the defamatory remarks concerning Ms. Wayment. The controversy between Ms. Wayment and her former employer is simply a private employee-employer issue wherein a former employer has impugned the integrity of a former employee. Such a dispute does not involve a public controversy requiring Ms. Wayment to prove actual malice.

There is both direct and circumstantial evidence that the defamation occurred. This defamation is established with non-hearsay evidence admissible under Utah R.

Evid. 801 (d)(2)(D), statements made by a party's agent, Utah R. Evid. 801(d)(2)(B), statements that become adoptive admissions, and Utah R. Evid. 801(c), statements not offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted.

Finally, Ms. Wayment's Second Amended Complaint clearly sets forth "in words or words to that affect," "the nature or substance of the acts or words" creating the defamation cause of action against Patrick Benedict.

### **ARGUMENT**

#### **ISSUE NO. 1:**

**The trial court erred in granting defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment on the grounds that Ms. Wayment was a public figure and must prove defendants acted "with malice".**

The principle question in this case is whether this is a private defamation case between Ms. Wayment and her former employer or whether Ms. Wayment was a "public figure" involved in a public controversy. The trial court, without analyzing the nature of the controversy between Plaintiff and Defendant, concluded she was a public figure and therefore had to prove "actual malice." The court concluded that since she was a T.V. reporter, she was a public figure. The court's error was in failing to grasp the fact that: (1) no media of any sort was involved in publishing the defamatory remarks about Ms. Wayment; hence, there are no "freedom of the press" issues in this case, and (2) the controversy between Plaintiff and Defendants is simply a private employee-employer issue wherein a former employer has attacked the integrity of a former employee; hence, there is no "public controversy."

**A. There are no “freedom of the press” issues in this case.**

All of the cases cited by the trial court in its memorandum decision (and cited to the trial court by Defendants) are cases where a media defendant was sued for defamation and the vehicle used for publishing the defamation was the news media: radio, T.V., newspaper, magazine, etc. *New York Times Co. v. Sullivan*, 376 U.S. 254, 84 S.Ct. 710, (1964) (newspaper article); *Rosenblatt v. Baer*, 383 U.S. 75, 86 S.Ct. 669, (1966) (newspaper article); *Van Dyke v. KUTV*, 663 P.2d 52 (Utah 1983) (television station broadcast); *San Antonio Express v. Dracos*, 922 S.W.2d 242 (Tex. App. 1996) (newspaper article); *Falls v. Sporting News Publishing Co.*, 714 F.Supp. 843 (E.D. Mich. 1989) (newspaper, letter to the editor response); *Adler v. Conde Nast Publications, Inc.*, 643 F.Supp. 1588 (S.D.N.Y. 1986) (magazine article); *Rybachek v. Sutton*, 761 P.2d 1013 (Alaska 1998) (newspaper, letter to the editor); *Seegmiller v. KSL Inc.* 626 P.2d 968 (Utah 1981) (television station broadcast).

In those cases, as Defendants correctly cited to the trial court:

In a series of decisions following *New York Times v. Sullivan*, the U.S. Supreme Court has held that the importance of a free press requires that proof of actual malice be made by clear and convincing evidence. (citing authority).<sup>4</sup>

This heightened requirement of proving actual malice is a constitutional safe guard imposed by the First Amendment’s guarantee of freedom of the press. In the present case, no media of any sort was used to publish the defamatory remarks concerning Ms. Wayment: “freedom of the press” is simply not at issue in this case.

---

<sup>4</sup> P. 15, Memorandum in Support of Defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgment.

This court's historical review and analysis in *Seegmiller v. KSL Inc.* 626 P.2d 968 (Utah 1981) accurately identifies the competing interests and issues between "private" and "public" figures.

**B. This is a private controversy between an ex-employer and ex-employee.**

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