2003

Holly Wayment v. Clear Channel Broadcasting, Inc. : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

Snyder v. Sony Music Entm’t, Inc., 252 A.D.2d 294, 299 (N.Y. App. Div. 1999) (finding summary required where plaintiff relied on inadmissible hearsay testimony that slanderous comments were made); Schwartz v. Soc’y of New York Hosp., 232 A.D.2d. 212, 213 (N.Y. App. Div. 1996) (defamation claim dismissed summarily; evidence constitutes inadmissible hearsay); Davis v. Household Int’l, 1991 WL 110042, *2 (Tex. Ct. App. 1991) (affirming summary judgment where witnesses’ statements relied upon by plaintiff were no more than inadmissible double hearsay that related what another individual allegedly heard from defendant); McMillian v. Johnson, 88 F.3d 1573, 1583-85 (11th Cir. 1996), *aff’d* 520 U.S. 781, 117 S. Ct. 1734, 138 L. Ed. 2d 1 (1997) (deposition testimony constituting double hearsay cannot defeat summary judgment); Courtney v. Canyon Television & Appliance Rental, Inc., 899 F.2d 845, 851 (9th Cir. 1995) (affirming summary judgment against defamation claim where only evidence that defamatory statements were made was inadmissible hearsay).

Id. at 1303 (emphasis added). Similarly, as one court explained, a description of another person's testimony "is not suitable grist for the summary judgment mill." Gross v. Burgraff Const. Co., 53 F.3d 1531, 1546 (10th Cir. 1995) (internal cites omitted).

C. It Is Undisputed That Plaintiff Failed to Produce A Single Witness That Heard Jon Fischer Make Any of the Challenged Statements.

In the instant case, Plaintiff has failed to produce any admissible evidence that Defendant Fischer uttered any of the three claimed defamatory statements. These alleged statements were that Plaintiff was terminated because: (a) "She was taking money from the Huntsman Cancer Institute;" (b) "Was in bed with the Institute"; and (c) "Had used her reporting contacts to try to set up a foundation for her benefit." (R. 228 at ¶ 48.)

Plaintiff, herself, admits she never heard any defamatory statements made by Mr. Fischer. (See Sup. R. 557 line 7 through 559 line 5.)¹⁵ Moreover, of the seventeen witnesses Plaintiff deposed in this case, not a single one personally heard any defamatory statements uttered by Mr. Fischer. (R. 245.) Plaintiff argues on page 23-24 in her Opening Brief that several statements from various individuals (including Ms. Degering, Ms. McKane, Ms. Miller and Mr. Hertzke) are proof of Fischer's culpability. (Br. of Appellant at 23-24.) However, these statements are all merely re-statements of "rumors" overheard by these witnesses who, during their depositions, could not remember or identify either the persons from whom they heard the rumor or to whom the source(s) of the rumor was attributed. (See e.g., Degering Depo.; Sup. R. 551 lines 7-9.) More

¹⁵ Plaintiff's own testimony provides no support for her claim. In her deposition, she initially identifies seven individuals who reported to her hearing defamatory statements from "the Defendants." (Sup. R. 559 at lines 21-25.) On its face, such testimony constitutes inadmissible "double hearsay." Moreover, after an examination regarding each of the seven individuals, Plaintiff admits that none of them actually heard Mr. Fischer make a single defamatory comment. (As evidenced by her crossing out the initials "JF" next to each purported witness; see Sup. R. 560 lines 1-9 and Sup. R. 562.)

importantly, every one of these witnesses testified definitively in their depositions that they never heard Jon Fisher make any of the allegedly defamatory remarks.¹⁶ In the absence of any direct evidence linking Fischer to the challenged statements, Plaintiff attempts to meet her burden based on three impermissible sources.

1. Plaintiff Relies on Improperly Vague Testimony.

Plaintiff first attempts to rely on improperly vague testimony. In her opening brief, she cites statements from KTVX employee Jeremy Castellano¹⁷ who states, “They made up the story about how she was receiving money and how she was unethical when it wasn’t true,” and “A lot of management pushed the story she was taking money from Huntsman. . . Like Pat Benedict.” (Br. of Appellant at 18)¹⁸ Likewise, at summary judgment, Plaintiff cited former employee Christina Flores-McKane as saying, “Everybody was talking about it.” (R. 318.)

Even assuming these statements were intended to refer to Fischer, they are insufficient on their face to establish that he published them. Testimony attributing challenged statements to unspecified persons or groups is inadmissible. See e.g., Glenn v. Scott Paper Co., 1993 WL 431161, 10 (D.N.J. 1993) (“where declarants are identified as ‘they’ and ‘several people’ the Court is simply not satisfied that the trustworthiness

¹⁶ See (Hunsaker Depo. at Sup. R. 546 line 6 through 547 line 11); (Degering Depo. at Sup. R. 552 line 3 through 553 line 4); (Flores-McKane Depo. at Sup. R. 543 lines 14-25); (Rodriguez Depo. at Sup. R. 540 lines 16-23); (Miller Depo. at Sup. R. 537 lines 3-10); (Castellano Depo. at Sup. R. 534 lines 1-7); (Smith Depo. at Sup. R. 531 lines 3-7).

¹⁷ Mr. Castellano, aside from being a close friend of Plaintiff, is a disgruntled employee who quit employment at KTVX, a Clear Channel television station, on his own and due to unsatisfactory working conditions. This occurred sometime after Plaintiff’s termination.

¹⁸ Plaintiff tries to improperly bootstrap the testimony of Clear Channel Executive Steve Minium who, in a totally different context, defined management as including Fischer and Benedict. (Br. of Appellant at 22, 23.)

requirements are being met); see also Etzel v. The Musicland Group, 1993 WL 23741, 10 (D. Kan. 1993) (summarily dismissing defamation claims because allegations do not “state with specificity which agents made what statements to whom”).

2. Plaintiff Relies on Improper Double Hearsay Testimony.

Plaintiff also tries to establish publication by Fischer through inadmissible double hearsay testimony. For instance, Plaintiff offers the testimony of KTVX employee Adam Rodriguez who testified that Jon Fischer’s secretary, Melissa Holt, purportedly told him that Fischer allegedly communicated one of the defamatory remarks to her. As set forth above, this statement by Mr. Rodriguez violates fundamental hearsay rules because his testimony is being offered for the truth of the matter asserted (specifically, that Ms. Holt heard Jon Fischer make the purported statement).

Plaintiff tries to justify Rodriguez’s testimony by embarking on a lengthy summary of hearsay law. (Br. of Appellants at 18, 19, 23-25.) While Plaintiff fairly accurately sets forth general hearsay principles, she misconstrues their application to this case. Ultimately, her recitation of hearsay cases and authorities is to no avail. All the supporting authorities she cites recognize simply that testimony is admissible where a person witnesses, *by first hand knowledge*, an allegedly defamatory utterance even if that testimony is hearsay. (See, Id.) In other words, had Adam Rodriguez overheard Jon Fischer, first hand, make a defamatory comment, Mr. Rodriguez’s testimony of that fact could be admissible (in contrast to his double hearsay testimony of what Ms. Holt allegedly overheard Fischer say). However, Rodriguez admits that he did not hear Fischer make any of the claimed defamatory statements (Sup. R. 540 at lines 16-23.)

The only statement offered by Plaintiff that is made with first hand knowledge is that of Barbara Smith, a co-worker of Plaintiff’s at KTVX. Ms. Smith testified that,

when she inquired of Jon Fischer why Plaintiff was gone, Mr. Fischer told her it was due to a “conflict of interest.”¹⁹ (R. 399 at p. 20 lines 8-12.) This statement, although admissible by hearsay standards, fails to establish publication of any of the disputed statements. In fact, this statement is entirely consistent with the very reason Fischer told Plaintiff she was being terminated—for a conflict of interest. Thus, none of the statements, including Ms. Smith’s, are admissible for establishing publication of the claimed defamatory statements.

3. Plaintiff Relies on Improper and Insufficient Circumstantial Evidence.

Plaintiff also tries to use insufficient circumstantial evidence to prove defamation against Fischer. For example, Plaintiff cites as circumstantial evidence of Fischer’s defamation, the testimony of Adam Rodriguez and his accusation that Ms. Holt attributed her knowledge of Plaintiff’s termination to Jon Fischer. Plaintiff also uses a quote from Jeremy Castellano to create the perception that Ms. Holt made similar remarks to others, “If Jon Fischer the News Director’s Secretary is going around telling people that Holly was receiving a salary. . .she obviously knows.” (Br. of Appellant at 22.) Plaintiff goes on to argue that this statement, along with Rodriguez’s creates sufficient circumstantial evidence of defamation by Fischer. (Br. of Appellant at 21-22.)²⁰

However, what Plaintiff fails to explain is that Castellano, himself, never heard Fischer or Holt make any such statements. In fact, Castellano based his whole statement about Ms. Holt on what Rodriguez had told him. (R. 341.) In any case, neither

¹⁹ Smith also testified that despite her inquiries, Fischer would not give her any details about the termination out of respect to Plaintiff. If Fischer were being vindictive, he could easily have cast aspersions at Ms. Wayment during this dialogue.

²⁰ Holt testified that Fisher told her Plaintiff’s departure was due to a “conflict of interest” and not due to any of the allegedly defamatory statements. (Sup. R. 524 at lines 1-16.)

Rodriguez's statement nor Castellano's, as only the most attenuated circumstantial evidence, can impute liability to Fischer. Without a single person who directly heard Jon Fischer make any of the disputed statements, Plaintiff's circumstantial evidence (that Fischer failed to stop rumors and that his secretary purportedly published a defamatory comment) amounts to no more than conjecture and speculation which cannot defeat summary judgment. See e.g., Corum v. Farm Credit Services, 628 F. Supp. 707, 717 (D. Minn. 1986) (without direct evidence, a discharged employee's mere suspicions and conjectural assertions are not sufficient to withstand summary judgment on his defamation claim).²¹

Thus, under Utah law and the great weight of persuasive authority cited above, Plaintiff has failed to demonstrate that Mr. Fischer made any of the allegedly defamatory statements. Based on this factor alone, this court should affirm summary judgment as to Defendant Jon Fischer.

D. In the Absence of Direct Evidence, Plaintiff Cannot Link the Challenged Statements to Jon Fischer by Characterizing Fischer's Silence as an "Adoptive Admission."

Plaintiff alleges that Fischer's failure to quell the rumors about Plaintiff's termination, in addition to providing circumstantial evidence of defamation, constitutes an admissible admission that he made the defamatory statements. There is no dispute that gossip circulated in the newsroom after Plaintiff's termination. Perhaps Mr.

²¹ See also Dunlap v. Wayne, 716 P.2d 842, 847 (Wash. 1986) (suggested inferences do not qualify as evidence. "A party must provide affirmative factual evidence to oppose summary judgment on defamation claim"); Jackson v. Boeing Co., 1992 WL 42913, *7 (D. Kan. 1992) (summary judgment must be granted where plaintiff, a terminated employee of the defendant, failed to produce admissible direct evidence of defamation by defendant); Cf Gildea v. Guardian Title Co. of Utah, 970 P.2d 1265, 1270 (Utah 1998) (upholding summary judgment because, without direct evidence that defendant communicated disputed information, conclusions of pure speculation and conjecture are not sufficient).

Fischer's decision to honor Plaintiff's request for silence may not have been the best policy from a standpoint of employee morale.²² However, it is by no means a sufficient basis for a defamation claim. In support of her adoptive admission argument, Plaintiff cites a single Utah case taken woefully out of context. Utah v. Carlsen, 638 P.2d 512 (Utah 1981)

In Carlsen, the defendant was accused of threatening, out of court, a witness who was going to testify against him. Id. at 513-514. While at a shopping mall, a defendant in a criminal trial and his accomplice crossed paths with the witness. Id. Urged by the defendant to call the witness offensive names and threaten him if he showed for court, the accomplice verbally threatened the witness that if testified the next day, "We'll kill you." Id. at 514. While the threats were being made, the defendant stood silently next to his accomplice. Id. At trial, on a charge of tampering with a witness, the judge allowed the witness to testify as to what the accomplice said as evidence against the defendant. Id.

Carlsen is completely distinguishable from the instant case. First, it is a criminal case and not a civil defamation case. More importantly, the Carlsen court allowed the limited hearsay testimony, in large part because there was clear evidence that in warning the witness not to testify, the accomplice was carrying out defendant's instructions. Id. at 514. In this case, there is no similar evidence that people were spreading rumors at KTVX or anywhere else at the behest of Jon Fischer.

Another reason the Carlsen court allowed the hearsay testimony was that the defendant was present at the time his accomplice purported to speak on behalf of both

²² Fischer asserts that he remained silent at the request of Plaintiff. (R. 271 at ¶ 21.) This is corroborated by testimony from Barbara Smith, a co-worker of Plaintiff, who explained that Fischer would not tell her the details surrounding the termination because of his commitment to Plaintiff. (R. 399 at p. 20 lines 8-12.) In addition, it was station policy not to talk about the details of such decisions. (R. 271 at ¶ 22.)

himself and defendant using terms such as “us” and “we.” Id. In the instant case, there is no evidence that Fischer was ever present when any potentially defamatory statements were made, much less that some person, in his presence, made defamatory remarks on behalf of Fischer impliedly or otherwise. Finally, applying use of the “adoptive admission” doctrine in a libel case as Plaintiff has suggested here carries terrible policy implications. Specifically, all who heard or read defamatory statements (whether in the form of gossip from another individual or stories in print or broadcast) would potentially be liable for defamation if they did nothing to stop or correct the statements. While this doctrine may apply in other contexts, it does not belong in a defamation case such as this.

E. The Alleged Statement By M'Lissa Holt Is Similarly Not Admissible as The Basis For Plaintiff's Defamation Claim.

Plaintiff improperly attempts to establish liability against Defendants based on an alleged statement from M'Lissa Holt, wherein she purportedly told Adam Rodriguez that Plaintiff “was getting paid by the Huntsman Institute.” (Br. of Appellants at 18, 19.) According to Rodriguez, when he asked Holt who had told her that, she responded “Jon told me.”²³ Like the other hearsay statements addressed above, Ms. Holt's alleged statement to Adam Rodriguez about what Jon Fischer supposedly said is inadmissible double hearsay.

1. Ms. Holt's Statement Cannot Be Used to Establish Liability on the Part of KTVX.

On appeal, and for the first time, Plaintiff argues that Ms. Holt's testimony, itself, should bind KTVX because she was an employee of the company. However, this argument is unavailing for several reasons. First, nowhere in the Second Amended

²³ Holt denies making the statement. (Sup. R. 527 line 25 through 528 line 14; Sup. R. 528 lines 18-21.)

Complaint does Plaintiff allege defamation against KTVX based on the statements of M'Lissa Holt. Plaintiff had a chance to amend her Complaint after discovery and chose to limit the basis of her defamation claim to the purported statements of Defendants Fischer and Benedict. In fact, it is an undisputed material fact that Plaintiff's defamation claim is based solely on the purported statements by Defendants Fischer and Benedict. (R. 228 at ¶45, 48.) This fact alone is dispositive of this issue.

Second, Plaintiff failed to even raise this argument at the trial court. The only reference to M'Lissa Holt in the summary judgment briefs was in the context of trying to establish what Jon Fischer said by way of double hearsay (what others claimed Ms. Holt told them that Jon Fischer said). Plaintiff cannot now, on appeal, raise new arguments that were never preserved at the District Court level. Smith v. Four Corners Mental Health Ctr., Inc., 2003 UT 23, ¶ 19, 70 P.3d 904, 911 (Utah 2003) (Supreme Court will not address any new arguments raised for the first time on appeal").

IV. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT PLAINTIFF FAILED TO LINK DEFENDANT PAT BENEDICT TO THE STATEMENTS ALLEGED IN PLAINTIFF'S SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT.

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